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INTRODUCTION


According to the 1841 tithe apportionment, the former ecclesiastical parish of Roath covered 2,430 acres and would today comprise the well-known urban districts of Roath, Splott, part of Adamsdown, Plasnewydd, Pen-y-lan and part of Cathays. Geographically, the parish stretched from the then town of Cardiff in the west, the boundary running from the present junction of Crwys Road with Fairoak Road southwards along Crwys Road and City Road (or its earlier manifestations), to its junction with Newport Road. It then proceeded along Glossop Terrace (or Adamsdown Lane as it was originally called) before taking a linear direction to the sea. The parish’s northern boundary followed what is today Fairoak Road, taking a north and north-westerly direction to Queen Wood and Well Wood, along the course of Nant Pantbach and then eastwards to the River Rhymney. The latter formed the parish’s eastern delimitation, which also served as the county boundary between Glamorganshire and Monmouthshire. The Bristol Channel or ‘Severn Sea’ formed a natural boundary to the south. Roath was bounded on the west by the parishes of Cardiff St Mary’s and Cardiff St John’s, to the north by Llanishen parish, to the north-east by Llanedeyrn parish and to the east by Rumney parish. It is the area covered by the parish which provides the geographical focus of this study.


The subtitle to this book, One Thousand Years of History, has proved a challenging assignment given spatial and source material constraints but, nevertheless, I have endeavoured to cover the second millennia from the time of the Normans to the present day. Essentially chronological in scope, it is also thematic, episodic, descriptive and analytical. If it has a consistent thread, it is the identification of people and places that were conspicuous in the parish at various times from John de Raath in the thirteenth century through to the Bawdripp family of the late medieval and early modern periods, and the Williamses of Roath Court and Richardses of Plasnewydd in more recent times. It has also sought to reveal how the three communities which are the focus of this book have emerged and developed. The images included are primarily a mix of cartographic representations and aerial photographs. Those who wish to see a broader range of depictions are advised to consult the author’s Roath, Splott and Adamsdown volume in the ‘Archives Photographs Series’ (Stroud, 1995).


A number of people have been generous in giving help and information towards this compilation, and all are absolved from any errors which may appear. As with the earlier photographic volume, this work is published in conjunction with the Roath Local History Society which was founded in 1978. In particular, I would like to express my gratitude to Margaret Reeves and Malcolm Ranson for their help in providing information for the section on education, and also to Margaret for allowing me to use her recollection of Portmanmoor Road as being ‘very long, very straight and very dusty’. I would also particularly like to thank Judith Hunt for the research she undertook on local government, which more than underpins the section on that subject. I am indebted to one of the society’s founder members, Gerry Penfold, for the analysis he did on the 1851 and 1861 census enumerators’ returns, as well as the parish registers, the results of which I have adopted for this work. Other members of the society who have provided help include Peter Gillard, Melvyn Rees, Jean Rose, Martin Sheldon, Gwyn Smith and Margaret Smith. Another faithful member, Nancy Keir, has also been generous in allowing me to consult the research papers of her late husband and founder of the society, Alec Keir, who as well as being a close friend was a great inspiration. Outside the confines of the society, those who have provided or offered help and assistance include: Wendy Bourton; Nita Brass-O’Boyle; Diane Brook; Alan Cox; Noel Cox; Nick Davey; Barry Davies; John Davies; Mike Dean; Derek Elliot; Debbie Gray; Matthew Griffiths; Tony Hopkins; Marilyn Jones; Brian Lee; Revd Stewart Lisk; Howard Llewellyn; Rhidian Llewellyn; Gwynedd Pierce; Stephen Roberts; Stephen Rowson; Dennis Sellwood; Patricia Stowell; Hilary Thomas; Matthew Thomas; Diane Walker; Elizabeth Walker and Keith Walker. Among organisations to be thanked are the Caerphilly Local History Society, Cardiff Naturalists Society, Presbyterian Church of Wales, Representative Body of the Church in Wales and English Heritage.


I would like to express particular gratitude to Katrina Coopey and her colleagues at Cardiff Central Library for providing much help, advice and source material; similarly, Patricia Moore and Penny Icke of the Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Wales, as well as the staff of Glamorgan Archives. I am also very grateful to Anne Leaver for her excellent depiction of the parish of Roath based on the 1840 tithe map.


In a study of this nature, local intelligence can never be overlooked and in this regard I would like to thank both Jessica Lazo, chair of the Splott and District Local History Group (in particular for mounting the successful exhibition of Splott’s heritage in 2011) and Fred Ridout, who gave me the benefit of his lifelong knowledge of Splott. My greatest debt, however, is to John Sennett, whose generosity in sharing his unrivalled knowledge of Adamsdown and its environs with me knew no bounds, and for which I am most grateful.





Finally, thanks as always to Jen, Flick and Ben.





Jeff Childs, 2012




ONE


MEDIEVAL ROATH


Geology and topography


The topography of what came to comprise the ecclesiastical parish of Roath is varied and diverse, and has had a direct bearing on the area’s land use and settlement pattern. Evolving over many millennia, the landscape has been strongly influenced by geological, geographical, environmental and cultural factors. The portion which historically constitutes the East Moor, Splott Moor, Pengam Moor, the flood plains of the River Rhymney and the Roath Brook consists essentially of poor quality, heavy alluvium and estuarine marls, overlain by seasonally wet deep-clay soils which, from medieval times to the late nineteenth century, were used as permanent pasture, being characterised by flat, open land and an absence of urban and infrastructural development. Further inland, in the area of Splott, Adamsdown, Roath and Cathays, the subsoil is mainly river gravels, whereas north of what was the original village of Roath, centred on St Margaret’s Church, the land rises gently to a height of over 60m (200ft) at Pen-y-lan.


This brief overview is broadly in accord with that given by Samuel Lewis in his Topographical Dictionary of England and Wales, first published in 1833, in which he describes the surface of the parish as being:





… nearly perfect flat, except that to the north of the village there is a gentle rise. The Romney, which here separates the counties of Glamorgan and Monmouth, formerly inundated the moors to a great extent, but an embankment has been constructed within the last few years, which has confined it to its proper channel. The quality of the soil is various, the upper lands towards the north being a stiff red clay, and the flat ground being composed of sandy loam and gravel, which towards the moors, become covered with tenacious clay, fit for making bricks.





Geologically, Pen-y-lan has a twofold significance. First, it is here that the oldest rocks in the neighbourhood are found, an outcrop of rocks of the Silurian age. Millions of years ago, the great masses of strata of coal measures, carboniferous limestone and Old Red Sandstone were gradually eroded away, leaving the ancient Silurian rocks exposed. Second, Pen-y-lan is significant as it marks the south-west boundary of the massive ice sheet of the last great Ice Age, the line of which extended north-north-east from Pen-y-lan, more or less following the English border, continuing northward and then eastward to the east coast of England.


Pen-y-lan is also significant archaeologically. In 1952 a coarsely chipped stone tool made of quartzite was found by accident in an allotment in this part of Roath, archaeologists characterising the specimen as a Palaeolithic hand-axe (around 200,000 BC). Although it could jocularly be said to have been dropped by one of the first ‘Welshmen’, there was, of course, no territorial entity called Wales. The item may well represent a stray from a collection, but it nonetheless remains one of only a handful of chance finds of stone tools that provide some of the earliest tangible evidence of early hominins in Wales. In 1963 Roman pottery was also found at Pen-y-lan in a disused quarry just south of the Eastern Avenue trunk road, close to what is today Edward Nicholl Court.


Dark Age history


In the so-called ‘Dark Ages’, Wales was a land of multiple kingdoms each with its own ruling house, traditions and origin legends. The exact number of kingdoms in Wales, following the departure of the Romans in the fifth century, is unknown and their history is obscure, despite the authoritative and illuminating research of several Welsh historians in recent years. Certain areas in the earliest centuries are thinly documented, none more so than south-east Wales, where the origins of the Welsh kingdoms such as Morgannwg are often shrouded in later legend, whilst the written sources of the post-Roman period are mainly retrospective.


In these pre-Norman times, Wales was divided into gwledydd, or states, each gwlad being subject to single dynastic rule with a king or prince exercising privileges and prerogatives. Each ruler also maintained at his llys, or court, a royal household of high-ranking officers and retainers. The most important administrative unit of the gwlad was the cantref divided, in turn, into two or more cymydau or commotes, which facilitated the collection of dues and the holding of local courts. These early units reveal a highly devolved system of local administration, with the king or prince having in each commote a maerdref, or royal village.


Society, administration and identity were based on hierarchy, status and kinship. Society was tribal, with all members united by real or supposed descent from a common ancestor and subservience to a warrior-elite. Genealogy and ancestry were paramount and, within each tribe, there were smaller groupings or clans based upon a closer blood relationship. Members of the clan were responsible for the payment of a variety of dues as well as the gwestfa (food rent) to the king or prince when he and his officials were in the area. Clan members were freemen who occupied scattered farmsteads, with the bondmen living in bond villages also subject to dues and services. The economic basis of society was pastoral farming, settlements being small and dispersed with inheritance based on gavelkind, where land was divided equally amongst a father’s sons.


The kingdom of Morgannwg comprised seven constituent cantrefau, whose boundaries essentially followed the courses of the river valleys running from the blaenau, or uplands, to the sea. They included Gwrinydd (between the Tawe and the Thaw), Penychen (between the Thaw and the Taff), Senghennydd (between the Taff and Rhymney), Gwynllwg (between the Rhymney and the Usk) as well as Gwent Iscoed and Gwent Uwchcoed.


The cantref of particular interest to the student of Roath is Senghennydd, whose northern boundary was the Norman lordship of Brycheiniog, and whose southern delimitation was the Bristol Channel. Two of its three commotes were Uwch Caiach (‘above Caich’), to the north of the Caich brook near Llancaiach, and Is Caiach (‘below Caiach’), south of the Caiach brook as far as the ridge of Caerphilly Mountain. The third commote was Cibwr, which lay south of Caerphilly Mountain as far as the sea. It was the commote of Cibwr, whose llys, or courthouse, was reputedly at Llysfaen (Lisvane), whose area (some 13,000 acres) was adopted in its entirety by the Normans as their lordship of Cardiff. This came to incorporate not only the manor of Roath but also the later ecclesiastical parishes of Roath, Llanedeyrn, Llanishen, Lisvane as well as those of Cardiff St John’s and Cardiff St Mary’s in the town of Cardiff (east of the River Taff) and part of Whitchurch.


The Norman lordship of Cardiff


The Norman lordship of Cardiff was established in the last years of the eleventh century by Robert Fitzhamon, from a base in the county of Gloucester. Fitzhamon was representative of the second generation of Norman warriors who invaded south Wales in the 1090s. He was rewarded for his loyalty to William II, when the latter was faced with rebellion, with extensive possessions in the honour of Gloucester, such lands establishing him as one of the greatest English landowners. He married Sybil, daughter of Roger, Earl of Shrewsbury and died in 1107. He was buried in Tewkesbury Abbey, which he founded, a name not without significance in the formative history of Roath.


Fitzhamon led his forces into Morgannwg between 1090 and 1093, defeating the last independent ruler Iestyn ap Gwrgan and bringing the independent Welsh kingdom of Morgannwg to an end. As marcher lord he subsequently laid claim to the former kingdom as far west as the River Ogmore. In due course, his twelfth and thirteenth-century successors brought areas west of the Ogmore under control, so that the area between the Tawe and the Rhymney rivers became the Norman lordship of Glamorgan (forerunner to the shire of that name created by the Tudors in the 1530s). Fitzhamon was the first Norman lord of both Glamorgan and Cardiff. In addition, he was lord of Gwynllwg as well as Gloucester, his most important estate.


As modernisers, the Normans introduced several novel institutional features – political, administrative, legal and economic – whose tangible manifestations were in the form of castles, boroughs, towns and manors. They also reconfigured the Celtic church, introducing a parochial system of worship. This was clearly evident at Cardiff, where geography and topography were prime determinants for locating these new forms of governance.


The manor of Roath


The earliest recorded history of Roath relates to its function as a manor – essentially a lord’s landed estate whose raison d’être was to secure income from the produce grown on the land (particularly the demesne) and from the rents received from tenants. The manor of Roath served as a provisioning and supply centre for the lord of Cardiff Castle. With a household often numbering several hundred, the existence of a demesne was essential for sustaining the everyday needs of the castle, the arable portion of the demesne itself comprising numerous fertile units of varying size. As an institution the manor was more suited to fertile, lowland areas where the potential for effective cultivation of the demesne was greater and which offered better prospects for enhanced agricultural production and trade. Roath became one of two demesne manors held by Fitzhamon and his successors in the lordship of Cardiff, Leckwith being the other. Roath, however, was the principal manor, signified by the location of the manor house and home farm, presumed to have stood on the site of the present-day Roath Court Funeral Home, about a mile or so from the castle. The manor house, built from local material by local labour, constituted the core of the lord’s demesne and would, typically, have been a two-storey structure, containing a hall with adjoining private chambers, perhaps occupying the upper floor, with the kitchen, pantry, cellar (and in some cases a dairy), comprising the ground floor. Adjacent to the manor house at Roath were farm buildings, notably the barton (or farmyard kept in the lord’s own hands), the grange (principally the barn) and the ox-houses, constructed out of wattle and daub. In close proximity was the lord’s corn mill, situated near a small wooden bridge spanning the Llechau stream, which became anglicised as Licky and is today known as the Roath Brook.


Roath was originally a unitary manor but became fragmented during the twelfth century as a result of territorial appropriations by monastic houses when three manors came into existence: Roath Tewkesbury, Roath Keynsham and what remained of the original manor, which from the sixteenth century was referred to as Roath Dogfield. The latter, like Roath Keynsham, was territorially dispersed. The core of Roath Dogfield was the town of Cardiff and most of what later came to comprise the parish of Roath, including the manor house as well as, in modern-day parlance, Adamsdown, together with parts of Splott and Tremorfa. It also included that area of Cathays which became part of St John’s parish, a sizeable segment of St Mary’s parish that is represented today by Butetown and Cardiff Bay, portions west of the River Taff, including Pontcanna and part of Grangetown, as well as more northerly sections in Llanishen and Lisvane. The area which Roath Tewkesbury comprised is unclear but it did include St Margaret’s Chapel of Ease in Roath which, like St Mary’s Church in the town of Cardiff, was appropriated by Tewkesbury Abbey early in the eleventh century. The core of Roath Keynsham was Pen-y-lan, Cyncoed and Llwyn-y-grant, although there were significant outlying portions at Pengam and Llanishen, notably that part of the latter taken up today by the Thornhill private housing estate, the cemetery and crematorium. The manor also extended into Whitchurch parish. Roath Tewkesbury and Roath Dogfield eventually devolved to the ownership of the marquesses of Bute via the Herbert family, with Roath Keynsham passing to the Morgans of Tredegar Park via the Lewis family of the Van.


Taken as a single entity (as it was invariably described in the earliest manorial documents) Roath was primarily a dairying manor with a large herd of milking cows and a considerable production of milk, butter and cheese. A minister’s account of 1316 recorded 18 stone of butter and 308 cheeses, weighing 144 stone, being produced on the manor, of which 130 stone were sold in the Norman borough’s market of Cardiff for 76s 7d. The emphasis on dairy products is reflected further in the number of milking buckets, brass vessels, wooden tubs and earthenware jars (the latter acquired for curdling milk) which are itemised in the accounts and help explain the relatively large acreage given over to meadow and pasture land.


Among the stock mentioned in the ministers’ accounts are plough-oxen (twenty-three being valued at £15 6s 8d in 1315), cows, heifers, steers, calves and a bull (the latter being valued at £7 10s in the same document). There are few stated examples of sheep or horses specified in the sources apart from references to thirty-nine lambs in 1393 and the sale of 11½ stone of wool in the same year, and of horses reserved for the provost of Roath on various meadows in 1492. It was in later centuries, when the manorial lands were transformed into permanent farmland, that the ascendancy of sheep-farming in the area came to the fore.


A minister’s account of 1314 informs us that a fulling mill was leased to Richard the Tucker and his son, although it was seemingly not built until a few years later. Near at hand was the fishpond (vivarium de Raath), the manor also sharing in the fishing on the River Rhymney and in sea-fishing along the coast. In 1349 it was recorded that eighteen tenants paid rent for tenements along the coastal banks which allowed them to engage in fishing.


Such maritime topography however presented disadvantages, not to say dangers. For example, the saltmeads, comprising low-lying lands subject to overflow by the sea at very high tide, made up half the meadow land. In 1316, 62 acres of meadow were ‘swamped by water’, whilst in 1492 several acres were ‘destroyed by an outbreak of water’. Expense was periodically incurred in repairing gaps in the sea-wall caused by storms, with heavy timbers, turves and dressed clay being used and labourers, timbermen, woodcutters and hauliers being employed in such work.


The manor was broadly apportioned between the area designated as cultivated land and that which was not, the cultivated aspect being further sub-divided into the lord’s demesne and that portion held by the customary tenants. The non-arable component comprised meadow, pasture, forest and wasteland. The meadow and pasture land lay south of the demesne, essentially the areas covered in part today by the communities of Adamsdown, Splott and Tremorfa, the lower reaches of these areas coming to be known separately and at varying times as East Moor, Portmanmoor, Splott Moor and Pengam Moor. Arable farming was predominant on the manor, with 271 acres being cultivated in 1296 and over 358 acres in 1376. This compares with 254 acres and 292 acres of meadow and pasture land in these respective years.


The regulation of the manor – in particular the collective working arrangements of the tenants and the fixing of times for ploughing, sowing and harvesting – was undertaken at the manorial court, known variously as the ‘halmote’, hall moot or court customary. Minor infringements of the custom of the manor were also decided here. The lord’s arable land and that of his tenants was measured and valued periodically by commissioners or surveyors, the assessment being determined on the relative fertility of the soil and its value per acre. Such appraisals are evident from early fourteenth-century inquisitions post-mortem which, like ministers’ accounts, are another key manorial source and reveal that the majority of tenants on the manor were freemen paying rent for their land. This greater preponderance of freemen on manors was generally reflective of the Norman subjugation of south Wales. The Normans encouraged freemen to settle in what was a thinly populated area, with inducements of grants of land and the preservation of their liberties. Freemen numbered fifty-seven in 1307, paying rent of 61s 6½d, with a later document (1349) stipulating that at least some of them were holding by ‘ancient feoffment’, suggesting that such arrangements pre-dated the Norman conquest in these parts, with secure rights based on long tradition. The manor also had customary tenants, as well as cottars and tenants-at-will. The customary tenants, numbering seventeen in 1307, would have occupied primitive farmsteads grouped within the nascent village of Roath. They also enjoyed greater security in their holdings than is sometimes assumed and shared the cleared arable land collectively with the Norman lord. Indeed, they are recorded as holding 189 acres of arable land in 1307 and 216 acres in 1314.


The open fields, comprising numerous strips of wheat, barley, oats and beans, reached eastwards as far as the River Rhymney and the sea-wall, and westwards to the boundary of the town of Cardiff. A minister’s account of 1316 reveals there to have been ‘in the grange of Raath’, thirty quarters of corn valued at £13 10s, fifty-five quarters of beans valued at £18 6s 8d, fifteen quarters of barley valued at 100s and 132 quarters and 6 bushels of oats valued at £19 18s 3d. A later account that year specifies ‘10 quarters of wheat sown on 31 acres, 13 quarters; 6 bushels of beans sown on 36 acres, 3 quarters; 6 bushels of barley sown on 7 acres and 46 quarters, and 6 bushels of oats sown on 50 acres, the total crop area being some 125 acres’. In addition, 44½ acres of mown hay were produced.


A customary tenant held a dozen or so strips of cultivated land, each of which was about 1 acre in extent. The tenant paid the Norman lord a small rent and did part-time unpaid labour cultivating his demesne. Such labour services had long been fixed by custom, with each tenant in 1316 working with the plough in autumn for three days, during the sowing of the wheat, and in spring at the oat-sowing. In addition, he worked five mornings during the year harrowing and three-and-a-half days hoeing the corn during the growing season. At harvest, he performed six days work reaping and hauling corn to the barton, there to devote three further days to threshing. He also worked one-and-a-half days in summer raking and one day hauling firewood at Christmas time, for which there were eighteen ‘carryings’ recorded in 1316.


The accounts itemise the wages paid for some of the labours undertaken. For example, a number of tenants with their oxen and carts were employed during the busy harvest season at a wage of 4d per day, cutting, tossing and hauling hay to the stack-yard at Roath to provide winter feed for their animals. One of the 1316 accounts reveals a new cartwheel costing 3s 4d; the remaking of one gate of the sheepfold – ‘weak and broken’ – by piecework, costing 5s; the repairing and mending of breaches ‘of the wall between the sea and the demesne lands’ by piecework, 41s 6d; tiles bought for the roofing of the grange and its cowhouse, 5s, with lime bought for the same purpose, 18d. Remedial work for the grange and cowhouse is also itemised on several occasions.


It seems that at Roath a greater share of the work than was usual on medieval manors was carried out by permanent servants, such as a reaper, waggoner, carter, ploughmen, drivers of plough-oxen, cowman and dairymaid. An account of 1316 specifies ‘4 ploughmen, 1 carter and 1 reaper’ in 1316 along with a shepherd ‘tending 1 bull, 14 cows, 4 heifers, 4 beasts and 7 calves’. Such unfree or bonded tenants performed these specialist tasks under the direction of a reeve or foreman, who arranged the work schedule and was himself exempt from other services for the year.


Over time, the prime purpose of the manor shifted, from one of demesne farming involving direct management, investment and exploitation on the part of the lord or his chief officials, to one of letting or farming-out of the demesne and customary lands. The services rendered by the tenants also changed, from one of servile labour to payment of rents, a process known as commutation. For example, in 1316 all the reaping and customary autumnal works (totalling 114 in number), the threshing works (totalling fifty-four), as well as the hauling of brushwood (numbering eighteen) were sold or commuted to a monetary payment. The growth of hired labour was also conducive to commutation. Indeed, there were several factors which led to a weakening of manorial organisation in south-east Wales, which were reflective of wider geographic developments. Increasing agricultural prices and wages, together with greater costs in administering and marketing demesne production, all led to diminishing profit margins. There was also periodic deterioration of law and order, as in 1316 with the rebellion of Llywelyn Brên (an event which is referred to on several occasions in the accounts for Roath and the adjoining manor of Rumney, which saw the acreage of the demesne in Roath being reduced, with 114 acres remaining unploughed). In addition, there was growing independence and assertiveness on the parts of manorial agents and freeholders, forfeitures of customary land, acquisition of free land by customary tenants, greater appropriation of the wasteland and cultivation of new lands. Bad harvests, as in 1316 and 1317, together with pestilence in 1348, with the onset of the Black Death, were also significant in weakening manorialism.


The cumulative effect of all these factors was generally evident by the middle of the fifteenth century which, nationally, saw few demesnes still functioning under the direct management of their lords and a conscious policy to let out estates at ‘farm’ in order to arrest the decline in profits. This is reflected in the records for the manor of Roath, which also reveal a greater incidence of increased rents for newly let lands and a firm and growing association of many of the farmed-out lands with particular tenants.


The leasing-out of the manor, in particular its demesne, is most evident in the ministers’ accounts of 1492 and 1542. For example, under the heading ‘New farm with increased rent’, the 1492 account specifies an island at the ‘Kytte’ (located in ‘the marshes of the Severn’), several gardens (including one ‘New farm of one garden and half an acre’), four cottages ‘in the middle of the street of Rooth’, a tenement and various acres of land including one named Soureland. It is under the ‘Farms’ sub-head, however, that the full extent of leasing is revealed, there being some thirty entries denoting acreages primarily of meadow and pasture, often by place-name. For example, 21 acres in ‘Brendon’, 14 acres at ‘Adamesdowne’ and 15 acres called ‘Adamscrofte’. The majority of the other entries show much smaller quantities though with a place or field-name included, such as Landmede (by Adamsdowne), Shottescrofte, Little Holemede, Great Holmede, Wardropelees, Spyremede, Rugelonde ‘by Rooth’ and Rothmanlez. Several crofts are also named, including Neucrofte (indicating the recent nature of such changes), Waterlederscroft, and Sevournhyll. All told, some 170 acres were directly leased in 1492. In addition, 48 acres of pasture were given over for the grazing of cattle in Grenourde (Greenward) which lay in the marshlands of Roath, with a further 3 acres in Meweslese in the same vicinity together with 11 acres in the Ylonde, such grazing rendering £8 12s 3d for the lord. The trend continued under the sub-head ‘Farms with issues of the manor’, some twenty entries denoting the farming-out of ‘divers pastures’ and other land. For example, 11 acres in Little Gouldenhoke, 12 acres in Great Gouldenhoke, 4 acres in Little Courtfurlonge, 16 acres in Great Courtfurlonge, 36 acres in Great Sefurlonge and 12 ‘small pieces’ in Spodomeslonde. Eighteen acres of pasture lay in Westfurlonge, with 13½ acres located in Estfurlonge and Westfurlonge being reserved in hand for the use of the provost’s horses. In these latter two meadows 43 acres of dry hay were also reserved in the lord’s hands, 30 of the acres being made by hired labour and the remaining 13 acres by customary tenants.


Many of these place-names also feature in a minister’s account of 1542 which has been described as a ‘virtual directory’ of the town of Cardiff and Roath for that time. Among new names which feature as being rented directly by free and customary tenants are Fresh More, Roberts Crofte, Barreyscrofte and David ap David Vaughans Tenement (signifying one of several examples of where the Welsh patronymic was coming to the fore). Those which appear as a result of the farming or leasing of the demesne include Margeryeslonde, Trockers Acre (near Adamsdown), Sendall Hill, Spyre Meade (on Rothes Moore), Rokes Land, Sower Lande, the Goslyu’s (Gooseleas), Revesacre, Waterledersmeade, Cutler’s Acre and the Long Crosse.


The ministers’ accounts, inquisitions post-mortem and other manorial records provide the earliest evidence of personal names of those who inhabited this area. Excluding tenants-in-chief (whose demise very often led to the records being produced and who, because of their power and status, were invariably non-resident) the first name seeming to appear as inhabiting the area was John de Raath, who appears in a property settlement of 1289 made between himself and Richard de Caneton (Canton). In 1314, Hugh de Raath is named in an inquisition post-mortem as one of twelve persons who swore an oath of allegiance in respect of the holdings of a lately deceased tenant-in-chief and marcher lord (in this case Gilbert de Clare). It is, however, the ministers’ accounts which have the greatest number of examples of inhabitants from Roath, including John Daye (1316), David Creek, provost of Roath (1376) and John H’ton and his wife (1392), who leased a meadow by the River Rhymney and a close named Morewlese. In 1392, John Gosselyn was named as owning a parcel of sheaves by Splott and Pottesmor (Portmanmoor) whilst, in the same document, the names of John Cook and William ap Jeuan ap Howell appear (for tithes of the sheaves of hay). In the same year John Daldeyn was owed 22d for 11 acres of land lying in a field of Roath, ‘by the “heth” ’ whilst the stipend due to John Meillouc, bailiff of Roath, was 6s 8d.


A century later, the names are more abundant as is exemplified by a minister’s account of 1492: John Foldey, Jeuan ap Jankyn, David ap Jankyn, David ap Hoell (Hoel), John Milwarde, Llewelyn Kemmes, Jeuan Baugh, Patrick Crispe, Lewis Massy, Stephen Gough, John Wastell, Richard ap Gwillim Lloid, John Webbe, John Thomas, Walter Waterleder, Hugh Langley, William Hoell, Walter Thomas, Alice Patrike, William Herry, William Gwyndot, Thomas Mey, Richard Sayer, Roger Puller, Nicolas Spycer, William Lewelyn, Ralph Bampton, John Coker and John Otter. Two of the most prominent to feature are William Gough, who leased Adamsdowne, Adamscrofte and Landmede, and William Bawdryp, who leased ‘Behyndthewalls’, ‘Sevournhyll’, a croft by Whitmore, Rugelonde and three portions of Rothmanlez. Bawdryp later came to lease Splott Farm.


Among those appearing in an account of 1542 and known to have interests in Roath were James Harris, William Morgan Gwyn, John Richard, William Hewys and John William. Harris rented, amongst other properties, Adamsdowne, Adamscrofte, Trocker’s Acre, land lying variously near ‘le hethe’, near Sendall Hill, Spyre Meade in Rothes Moore, a parcel called Rokes Land, and in Sower Lande and a tenement lying ‘bynethe the waie’. William Morgan Gwyn rented an unnamed fishery and 5 acres of land as well as a further unidentified 12 acres. His kinsman Jankyn Morgan Gwyn rented a parcel named ‘bethkyddeye’ (‘the grave of the black dog’), a place-name in Llanishen not without significance when attempting to unravel the complexities of Roath’s manorial history, notably the derivation of Roath Dogfield. The Gwyns were of Llanishen and their lands in Roath probably devolved to the Stradling family. Among others leasing land were: Margaret vergh Morgan, who rented demesne land such as Brandon farm as well as land in Little Holemeade, Great Holemeade and Margeryeslonde; Ieuan ap Treharne ap Hoell, who rented three unnamed properties; and Dio Roberte who leased 2½ acres of meadow, which lay in part ‘between Adamsdowne and Long Close, and two and half [acres] of arable land lying by the high way leading from Longe Crosse towards the Splott …’ Among those who leased land in Roath by free rent, as opposed to customary rent, were Jenkin Thomas for 30 acres, Richard Carne for 40 acres and Francis Stradling for 3 acres.


The 1570 survey of the lordship of Glamorgan, which was commissioned by Henry Herbert, 2nd Earl of Pembroke and second Lord Herbert of Cardiff (1534-1601), includes the manor of Roath within its purview. Earlier, in 1550, Henry’s father William (1501-70), who became 1st Earl of Pembroke of the second creation and first Lord Herbert of Cardiff in 1551, had acquired by grant a number of south Wales lordships, including those of Roath, Cardiff and Senghennydd which, like his previous acquisitions in 1546, were the genesis of the gargantuan landed estate of the marquesses of Bute some two centuries later. Scrutiny of the 1570 document for Roath, which names free and customary landholding, demesne land and fishing rights, allows profitable comparison with earlier sources, particularly the 1542 minister’s account, with which it bears strong similarity in terms of persons and places named. In particular, the 1570 document highlights the transformation of the demesne to leasehold with £33 4s 10½d of rents arising from this tenure (which includes fishing rights), as opposed to only £4 11s 9½d accruing from freehold and customary hold. Among prominent leaseholders named were (again) Jankyn Morgan Gwyn who had 21 acres of ‘demesne land, lying in Brandon’, 16½ acres at what was formerly Adam Spondere’s, 2 acres of meadow called Stotes Crofte, 4 acres of meadow in Small Holemeade, 2 acres of meadow in Great Holemeade and ‘land called Mergerisland, sometime in the hands of Llewelyn Kemys … previously Margaret verch Morgan’s …’ (after whom it may have been named) which is ‘now Lambrook Stradling gent.’s’. Among other leaseholders were Walter James, John Tanner, George Williams, the Wastell family, John Roberte ap Jevan for 3 acres ‘lying in Goselinge, in Rothe’ and John David Robertes who held a parcel of land ‘called Adams Crofte containing 8 acres’ and another parcel ‘called Adamsdowne containing 11 acres’, these being held by an indenture of 2 November 1565 given by William Herbert, ‘for the term of 21 years’. Among those who possessed land under ‘sergeant-hold’ were Roland Morgan esq., William Vaughan gentleman and Jankin Morgan Gwyn, whilst those holding ‘freely’ included Rece John Ygahan, Agnes Bowen and Edward Lewis esq. with Walter James, James Harrys, Roland Kemys and the heirs of John Richard being among the designated customary tenants.


Derivation of Roath, Splott and Adamsdown



Roath (Welsh y Rhath)


This place-name is said to derive from the Welsh term rhath, meaning ‘earthwork, fortification, mound’. In the medieval manor of Roath, the manor house was surrounded by a ditch. As the topographer, Rice Merrick, noted in 1578: ‘Within it stood an old Pyle, compassed with a Mote, which is called “the Court”; but now in ruyne.’ The present Roath Court Funeral Home is generally viewed as the site of the manor house and possible pre-Norman court. The element Rhath can be compared with the Irish ráth, meaning fortification, which is common in Ireland and also present in parts of Pembrokeshire. The place-name Ratostathybius/Ratostabius, which appears in Ptolemy’s Geo graphy in around AD 300, appears to be a river name placed by that mathematician and geographer between the Tywi and Severn rivers. This has led some to believe that this equates with the place-name Roath, although any direct connection with the latter is unlikely. The earliest manorial representation of the place-name is Raz, recorded in 1106, in a general confirmation given to the monks of Tewkesbury Abbey by Henry I, whilst other early sources specify it variously as Raath, Rad, Radf, Rahat, Raht, Rat, Rath, Rathe, Rooth, Roothe, Rothe, Rotheri and Rothery. Y Raff appears in a Peniarth manuscript of around 1566, held at the National Library of Wales.


Splott (Welsh y Sblot)


This place-name (and its related form splat) has had some fanciful derivations ascribed to it, not least ‘God’s plot’ on account of the area being an episcopal manor held by the bishop of Llandaff in the medieval period. Its meaning and origin is far more mundane however, namely, a plot of land. Nor is the name unique to what is now a densely populated district of Cardiff. There are, for example, at least eight cases of Splott or Splot recorded as a field or farm name in the Vale of Glamorgan and it is also to be found in Gower, Pembrokeshire and parts of England. As a form, the place-name is pre-Norman but its importation into the Cardiff area and the Vale probably post-dates the Norman invasion. The present urban area of Splott was originally flat and largely featureless moorland, which extended to the Bristol Channel, with the name probably being given originally to a portion of this land. Splott is the predominant form in documentation but variations do occur, such as Splattye, Splote and the more modern Splotlands.


Adamsdown (Welsh Twynadda)


This place-name is said to derive from one Adam Kyngot, who appears to have been an early portarius or porter of Cardiff Castle and who is specified in the municipal charter of 1331. It is spelt variously in early manorial documents as Adamesdowne, Adamsdoune, Adamsdowne and Adams Downe. The suffix down is more likely to be a variation of tün, ‘abode, dwelling, farm, settlement’, as opposed to dün which usually meant ‘hill, upland expanse’, although a slight rise in level on a preponderantly flat, featureless landscape becomes a ‘hill’ in some names. Adam’s Croft or Adamescrofte formed part of Adamsdown. A minister’s account of 1492, where it is written as Adamesdowne, states that it was 15 acres in extent and was lately in the occupation of the gatekeeper of Cardiff Castle.




TWO


SIXTEENTH- AND SEVENTEENTH-CENTURY ROATH


By the mid-sixteenth century the area that was to emerge as Roath, Splott and Adamsdown was becoming increasingly visible in the written record. This is again evident from manorial documentation, which continued to proliferate in subsequent centuries, primarily as a result of business transacted at the various manorial courts held for Roath Dogfield and Roath Keynsham. As an institution, however, the manor was increasingly becoming effete (although it continued to function, albeit in a fossilised form, until at least 1939) and in due course would be superseded by the parish as the prime unit of local government. More records were also being generated at a national level and their impact locally has left a rich vein of sources. Examples of national policy affecting local communities are the lay subsidy assessments for 1543, 1544 and 1545 – essentially a tax on land and goods in order to raise money for Henry VIII’s war with Scotland.


Lay subsidy assessments


Wage-earners were not included in the subsidy compilations, unlike those assessed as having personal wealth of £1 or more based on the value of, and profits accruing from, land. The assessments were arranged by hundred and parish and it is interesting to note that Roath (spelt variously as ‘Roth’ and ‘Rothe’) was designated as a parish, within the hundred of Cibwr, even though the church of Roath had not been accorded full parochial status at that time. The assessments allow fruitful investigation of the distribution of secular wealth as well as of the social structure of emerging communities. They are also useful for examining surname-evolution at a local level, particularly the patronymic ‘ap’ whilst, on a more regional basis, the evidence is suggestive of the Welsh population recovering from the large-scale depopulations of the fourteenth and fifteenth centuries.


The assessments for Roath list twenty-four personal names in 1543, compared with twenty-seven in 1544 and twenty-six in 1545. The top four in terms of assessment for 1543 were: Jamys Harry (13s 4d); John ap John Lloyde (6s 8d); Jevan Danyell (6s 8d) and Thomas ap John Lloyde (2s 4d). These were followed by eight who were assessed for 1s 8d, namely Jevan ap Jevne bach, John Thomas ap Thomas, Jaynkeyn ap John Lloyde, Thomas William, Nicholas Hastings, William Morgan Gwyn, William Hew and Richerde Colye. The remaining names, making up half of the total listed, were assessed for amounts varying between 2d and 6d. Although no place of residence is given it can be assumed that the majority of those named did live in Roath. The dates of the assessments are also contemporaneous with the minister’s account of 1542 referred to earlier, which allows comparisons to be made.


Hearth tax assessments


A major limitation of the lay subsidy assessments is that they present difficulties in deriving accurate numerical estimates of population. This is because of the variation in size of the minority excluded from the lists on grounds of poverty. This problem does not generally arise in respect of the hearth tax assessments, which were levied nationally between 1662 and 1689. As with the lay subsidy assessments, those for the hearth tax are categorised by hundreds and subdivided into parishes but it is only for the years 1670 and 1673 that full returns are extant for Glamorganshire, those for Roath being listed under the hundred of ‘Kibbor’. Although the hearth tax assessments, like the lay subsidies, are essentially a nominal compilation of householders, together with an enumeration of the hearths within their unnamed properties, they are nevertheless very useful to local historians and students of historical demography in allowing population totals of communities to be projected, as well as giving a perspective on wealth distribution.





Table 1: No. of householders listed in the hearth tax assessments for Roath in 1670 and 1673
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